

Doxycycline and Autogenous Bone in Repair of Critical-Size Defects

Lucateli, Ribamar Lazanha; Marciano, Marina Angélica; Ferreira, Sabrina; Garcia Júnior, Idelmo Rangel; Camilleri, Josette; Mariano, Ronaldo Célio

DOI:

[10.1097/ID.0000000000000783](https://doi.org/10.1097/ID.0000000000000783)

License:

None: All rights reserved

Document Version

Peer reviewed version

Citation for published version (Harvard):

Lucateli, RL, Marciano, MA, Ferreira, S, Garcia Júnior, IR, Camilleri, J & Mariano, RC 2018, 'Doxycycline and Autogenous Bone in Repair of Critical-Size Defects', *Implant dentistry*.
<https://doi.org/10.1097/ID.0000000000000783>

[Link to publication on Research at Birmingham portal](#)

Publisher Rights Statement:

This is the accepted manuscript version.

The final version of record was published as: Lucateli, Ribamar Lazanha, et al. "Doxycycline and Autogenous Bone in Repair of Critical-Size Defects." *Implant dentistry* (2018).

General rights

Unless a licence is specified above, all rights (including copyright and moral rights) in this document are retained by the authors and/or the copyright holders. The express permission of the copyright holder must be obtained for any use of this material other than for purposes permitted by law.

- Users may freely distribute the URL that is used to identify this publication.
- Users may download and/or print one copy of the publication from the University of Birmingham research portal for the purpose of private study or non-commercial research.
- User may use extracts from the document in line with the concept of 'fair dealing' under the Copyright, Designs and Patents Act 1988 (?)
- Users may not further distribute the material nor use it for the purposes of commercial gain.

Where a licence is displayed above, please note the terms and conditions of the licence govern your use of this document.

When citing, please reference the published version.

Take down policy

While the University of Birmingham exercises care and attention in making items available there are rare occasions when an item has been uploaded in error or has been deemed to be commercially or otherwise sensitive.

If you believe that this is the case for this document, please contact UBIRA@lists.bham.ac.uk providing details and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate.

Doxycycline and autogenous bone in repair of critical-size defects

AUTHORS: Ribamar Lazanha Lucateli, PhD*, Marina Angélica Marciano, PhD**, Sabrina Fe
Msc***, Idelmo Rangel Garcia Júnior, PhD#, Josette Camilleri, PhD##, Ronaldo Célio Mariano, PhD###

ABSTRACT (175 words)

PURPOSE The association of doxycycline and autogenous bone on repair of critical-size defects was evaluated.

MATERIALS AND METHODS Fifty albino rats were divided in 5 groups (n=10). A 5-mm diameter defect was treated with: CO – Blood clot (control); DOX – 10% Doxycycline in natrosol gel; NAT – Natrosol gel; PAB – Particulate autogenous bone; PAB + DOX – Particulate autogenous bone associated with 10% doxycycline in natrosol gel. The animals were euthanized at 4 and 8 weeks postoperatively. Histomorphometric analysis was performed to assess the percentage of new bone in the defect area. Statistical analysis of the results was performed using ANOVA and Tukey's tests ($p < 0.05$).

RESULTS The results showed that new bone formation was limited to the margins of the defect. At 4 and 8 weeks, the group PAB + DOX showed the higher bone formation (38.59% and 47.86%, respectively), with statistical difference in comparison with the CO (19.52%) at 4 weeks and CO (18.80%), DOX (22.05%) and NAT (15.89%) at 8 weeks ($p < 0.05$).

CONCLUSIONS The association of 10% doxycycline with autogenous bone improved significantly bone healing in critical-size defects.

KEYWORDS: Bone regeneration, bone graft, osseous defects.

* **PhD candidate**, Dept. of Surgery and Periodontology, Ribeirão Preto School of Dentistry, University of
Paulo – USP, Ribeirão Preto, São Paulo, Brazil.

Deleted: _____

Deleted: (Please provide position held for each)

** **Associate Professor**, Dept. of Restorative Dentistry, Piracicaba School of Dentistry, State University of
Campinas – UNICAMP, Piracicaba, São Paulo, Brazil.

Deleted: _____

*** **PhD candidate**, Dept. of Integrated Clinic and Surgery, Araçatuba School of Dentistry, University of
São Paulo - UNESP, Araçatuba, São Paulo, Brazil.

Deleted: _____

Associate Professor, Dept. of Integrated Clinic and Surgery, Araçatuba School of Dentistry, University of
State São Paulo - UNESP, Araçatuba, São Paulo, Brazil.

Deleted: _____

[Associate Professor](#), Dept. of Operative Dentistry, Faculty of Dental Surgery, University of Malta Deleted: _____

Msida, Malta.

[Associate Professor](#), Dept. of Surgery, Alfenas School of Dentistry, Federal University of Alf Deleted: _____

UNIFAL, Alfenas, Minas Gerais, Brazil.

Reprint requests and correspondence to: Ribamar Lazzanha Lucateli, Msc, Av. Limeira, 901, Areião – ZIP

CODE 13414-903 – Piracicaba – São Paulo – Brazil

Phone: [\(+55 19\) 981465715](tel:+5519981465715) Fax: [\(+55 19\) 21065343](tel:+551921065343)

E-mail: ribalazanha@yahoo.com.br

The repair of extensive bone defects due to trauma, infections, pathologies or congenital malformation was always considered a challenge for reconstructive surgery.¹ Bone defects are considered of critical size when the extension is large enough to jeopardize complete healing during a lifetime.² The critical-size defects are not able to repair spontaneously and thus, depend on the use of bone substitutes to complete the regeneration.³

Tetracyclines have been investigated extensively for decades for their antibiotic activity⁴, anti-inflammatory effect⁵ and inhibition of collagenolytic enzymes responsible for degradation of connective tissue and bone resorption.⁶ Minocycline and doxycycline have been used as a possible therapy for bone regeneration.⁷ The semi-synthetic derivative of tetracycline, the doxycycline is reported to have positive effects on bone regeneration. Doxycycline stimulates osteogenesis and apoptosis of osteoclasts, inhibits inflammatory bone resorption and osteoclastogenesis.^{8,9} The effect of 10% doxycycline in the repair of critical-size defects in rat calvaria was previously evaluated.¹⁰ The addition of 10% doxycycline in natrosol gel in the bone defects enhanced repair and thus this antibiotic could be used with graft materials and as a scaffold for bone regeneration.¹⁰

Despite several graft biomaterials developed in the last decades, autogenous bone is still highly recommended for treatment of critical-size defects.^{11,12} Autogenous bone is considered the gold standard graft for bone regeneration.¹³ The autogenous bone has several advantages including favorable bone quality, no risk of disease transmission or antigenicity, and predictability in the repair of larger defects or greater atrophy.¹³ The high rate of success on reconstruction surgery with autogenous bone seems that this graft is ideal to test the combination with doxycycline for repair of extensive defects.^{12,13} The aim of the study was to evaluate the use of 10% doxycycline in gel form and particulated autogenous bone on repair of simulated critical-size defects in rat calvaria. Qualitative and quantitative histological analyses were performed to analyze the percentage of new bone formation.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Experimental design

Fifty adult male albino rats (*Rattus norvegicus*), weighing approximately 500 g were selected (Ethical approval in the Animal Ethics Committee - 590/2014). The animals were kept in an environment with temperature ranging 22-24°C, with a controlled light cycle and consumption of solid food and water *ad libitum* throughout the experimental period.

For the surgical procedures, the rats were anaesthetized by intra-muscular injection of a combination of ketamine (Dopalen, Sespo, São Paulo, Brazil) (70 mg/kg) and xilasin (Rompum, Bayer S. A., Brazil) (6 mg/kg). The frontal-parietal region was shaved and disinfected with 10% povidone-iodine. A U-shaped incision was made through the skin using a no. 15 scalpel blade, with the caudal base in the rat calvaria and a full-thickness flap was folded posteriorly. A trephine drill of 5-mm diameter in a contra-angle was used to prepare a critical size defect in the rat calvaria under constant cooling with sterile saline solution. The defect included a portion of the sagittal suture. Then, “L”-shaped markings were performed using a carbide conical drill, 2 mm anterior and 2 mm posterior to the surgical defect margins. The markings were performed to allow identifying the center of the original defect during laboratorial processing. The major axis of each “L” was located on an imaginary longitudinal cranial-caudal line that divided the surgical defect in half. The markings were filled with amalgam as previously described.¹⁴

The animals were randomly divided into five groups (n = 10) according to the treatment applied:

- CO – Untreated. The defect was filled by a blood clot (control);
- DOX – 10% Doxycycline in natrosol gel;
- NAT – Natrosol gel;
- PAB – Particulated autogenous bone;
- PAB + DOX – Particulated autogenous bone associated with 10% doxycycline in natrosol gel.

In DOX and NAT groups, 0.5 mL of the substances were applied directly in the defect using a spatula. In PAB group, the skullcap removed with trephine was crushed using a bone crusher and inserted into the defect.

In PAB group, the particulated skullcap was mixed with 10% doxycycline in natrosol gel and inserted into the defect.

After filling the defects with the respective material, the tissues were placed in their original position and sutured with silk 5-0.

After 4 and 8 weeks, the animals were euthanized by excessive inhalation of carbon dioxide (CO₂). The frontal-parietal skin was shaved, disinfected and the calvaria was removed. The specimens were kept in a 10% formalin solution for 2 weeks. Then, the samples were washed in water, decalcified in 18% etilenediaminetetracetic solution (EDTA) and embedded in paraffin. Sections of 6- μ m thickness were performed from the center of the original defect. The sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin.

Microscopic analysis

The microscopic analysis was performed qualitatively and quantitatively using a binocular optical microscope by a trained technician. The histological slices of the specimens were evaluated qualitatively according to:

- Quality and intensity of the inflammatory reaction;
- Presence of fibroblasts and collagen fibers;
- Presence of granulation tissue and bone trabecula formation;
- Type and quality of tissue formed within the surgical defect.

The histological sections were evaluated histomorphometrically. Images of the sections were captured with a digital camera (Olympus DP71, Tóquio, Japão) connected to a binocular optical microscope (Olympus BX50, Tóquio, Japão) with an original magnification of 4X and saved on a computer. Histomorphometric analysis was performed using Image J 1.48 software. The software allowed calculating the area of bone formation. The total area of the surgical defect was measured in mm², based in the right and left margins, following the “L” markings. A 5-mm length was determined for the surgical defect and 1-mm was added considering the trephine oscillation, completing a total of 6-mm length. The height of total area of the defect was established

according to the thickness of the skullcap. The area of new bone present in the delimited total area was measured in mm². The values were converted in percentage in relation to the total area of the defect.¹⁰

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 5.0 software (Graph Pad software Inc., La Jolla, California, USA). Data were submitted to normality test of D'Agostino & Pearson. Statistical analysis was performed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) and Tukey's test ($p < 0.05$).

RESULTS

Representative microscopic sections of specimens of each group at 4 and 8 weeks are present in Figures 1 and 2, respectively. The mean, standard deviation and statistical differences of the percentage of bone formation at 4 and 8 weeks are represented in Table 1.

4 weeks

The qualitative microscopic analysis of the calvaria of the specimens of each group showed bone formation restricted to the margins of the defect. In all specimens the bone formation occurred in a centripetal way. The new-formed bone was less dense and more vascularized than the native bone, allowing the differentiation of the interface (Fig. 1 - B, D, F, H and J). For the groups CO, DOX and NAT, the bone formation in the margins was slight and the thickness of the tissue in the center of the defect was thinner (Fig. 1 - A, C and E). In the groups PAB and PAB + DOX, the bone formation was more evident and particles of autogenous bone was found in the center of the defect involved by connective tissue (Fig. 1 - G and I).

The histomorphometric analysis of the specimens at 4 weeks showed that the group PAB + DOX had the high percentage of bone formation (38.59 ± 3.09). Statistical differences were found between this group and CO and NAT, which presented the low values (19.52 ± 4.36 and 15.94 ± 6.67 , respectively) ($p < 0.05$). In the other comparisons, no statistical differences were verified ($p > 0.05$).

8 weeks

At this period, the qualitative analysis of each group showed more intense bone formation, still restricted to the margins of the defect. The groups CO, DOX and NAT presented the less intense bone formation with thin thickness in the center of the defect (Fig. 2 - A, C and E). The groups PAB and PAB + DOX had a high percentage of new bone formation in relation to the anterior period of analysis. In this period the particles of autogenous bone could be still identified in the center of the defect (Fig. 2 - G and I).

The histomorphometric analysis showed that the group PAB + DOX had the high percentages of new bone formation (47.86 ± 13.96). The lower values were found for NAT group (15.89 ± 4.91). Statistical differences were verified between PAB + DOX and CO, NAT and DOX groups ($p < 0.05$). Statistical differences were also verified in the comparison between the groups PAB and NAT ($p < 0.05$). In the analysis of the groups in relation to the periods (4 to 8 weeks), no statistical differences were found ($p > 0.05$).

DISCUSSION

The study evaluated the effect of the addition of 10% doxycycline in gel form and particulated autogenous bone in the repair of critical-size defects created in rat calvaria. Evaluation of bone repair, is essential and the conditions need to be ideal to allow the new formation of cortical and medullar bone when a critical sized defect is present.^{3,15} Several models of study have been proposed to evaluate bone repair.¹⁶ The calvaria provide a site with considerable area of cortical and medullar bone, easy surgical access, low action of muscular contraction and mechanical loads, minimizing the risk of fracture and interference in the repair.^{14,15,17}

In the current study, the diameter of the defects was 5-mm. Divergences are found in the literature regarding the diameter for critical-size defects.^{10,14} Independently of the diameter, the defect created should have a diameter sufficient to not allow spontaneous repair during the lifetime of the animal² or the entire laboratorial experiment.³ In the study, no complete repair was observed for any group, indicating that the diameter of 5 mm was sufficient to create a defect to be considered as critical-size.¹⁷

The ability of doxycycline to inhibit osteoclastogenesis and collagenolytic enzymes (responsible for degradation of connective tissues and bone resorption) and induces apoptosis of osteoclasts, encouraged several authors to evaluate the effect of this antibiotic on bone repair.^{8,10,18} In the study, the doxycycline was applied directly in the defect with a concentration of 10% as previously reported¹⁰ or added to particulated autogenous bone. Doxycycline alone showed lower bone forming ability (26.65% and 22.05% at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively) in comparison with the group in which doxycycline was associated with autogenous bone (38.59% and 47.86% at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively). These results indicate that the use of bone particles together with doxycycline enhanced the healing ability.¹ The presence of particles of bone in the center of the defect has two main functions: the physical action as a scaffold to allow osteoconduction and the biological action of providing osteogenic cells. When the autogenous bone acts as scaffold, it prevents invagination of connective tissue from the surgical flap into the center of the defect^{1,10} as evidenced by the thickness of the calvaria in the defects. The thickness is markedly thinner in the center of the defect in the groups in which autogenous bone was not used. Conversely, in the groups in which the particles of bone were applied, the thickness of the calvaria was maintained in all extension, suggesting that the bone particles acted as a scaffold.¹⁰ This is in accordance to a previous report, where doxycycline applied directly in the defect presented higher values than the defects left untreated (filled by blood clot).¹⁰ In the current study, doxycycline alone (26.65% and 22.05% at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively) showed high percentages of bone formation in comparison to the control group (19.52% and 18.80% at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively). These results suggest that the doxycycline had a positive effect on bone repair of the critical-size defects.¹⁰

Natrosol gel was used as a vehicle for doxycycline.¹⁰ This substance is an inert agent, soluble in water.¹⁹⁻²¹ As an inert substance, no effect on the repair was expected. The results showed that the specimens of the natrosol group (15.94% and 15.89% at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively) had low percentage of bone formation than that of doxycycline group (26.65% and 22.05% at 4 and 8 weeks, respectively). The values found suggest that the natrosol really acted as an inert vehicle and the doxycycline was the component inductor of bone formation, corroborating with the previous findings.¹⁰

The addition of 10% doxycycline in natrosol gel with autogenous bone was effective in increasing the percentage of bone formation in the critical-size defects at 4 and 8 weeks of analysis. Statistical differences were found among this group (38.59%) and control (19.52%) and natrosol (15.94%) at 4 weeks and among this group (47.86%) and control (18.80%), doxycycline (22.05%) and natrosol (15.89%) at 8 weeks. When autogenous bone was applied without doxycycline, the percentage was lower than with doxycycline, suggesting that the doxycycline increased the ability of bone repair of the autogenous bone.¹⁰ The results are in agreement with those reported in literature.^{7,22-24} The specific processes associated with this finding are probably related with the properties of doxycycline in inhibiting collagenolytic enzymes and osteoclastogenesis and induce the apoptosis of osteoclasts.^{7,10,18,25}

The perspectives of therapeutic use of doxycycline to improve the process of bone repair are wide.^{10,23,24} In critical-size defects, the complete repair requires the aid of a graft material² and the activity of 10% doxycycline in association with autogenous bone was very effective for bone healing of this type of defect, corroborating with previous finding.¹⁰ Nevertheless, other graft materials still have to be tested in association with doxycycline and in other surgical sites to ensure the efficacy of this therapy.

CONCLUSION

The use of 10% doxycycline in gel form with particulate autogenous bone significantly improved bone healing in critical-size defects in rat calvaria.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS: The State of São Paulo University (UNESP – Araçatuba) for support laboratorial process.

DISCLOSURE: The authors claim to have no financial interest, either directly or indirectly, in the products or information listed in the paper.

APPROVAL: [Ethical approval in the Animal Ethics Committee of Federal University of Alfenas - 590/2014](#)

ROLE/CONTRIBUTION OF CO-AUTHORS:

[Ribamar Lazanha Lucateli - Contributed to conception and design, contributed to analysis, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript.](#)

[Marina Angélica Marciano - Contributed to analysis, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript.](#)

[Sabrina Ferreira - Contributed to analysis, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript.](#)

[Idelmo Rangel Garcia Júnior - Contributed to analysis, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript.](#)

[Josette Camilleri - Contributed to analysis, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript.](#)

[Ronaldo Célio Mariano - Contributed to conception and design, contributed to analysis, drafted the manuscript, critically revised the manuscript.](#)

REFERENCES

1. Lemperle SM, Calhoun CJ, Curran RW, et al. Bony healing of large cranial and mandibular defects protected from soft-tissue interposition: A comparative study of spontaneous bone regeneration, osteoconduction, and cancellous autografting in dogs. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 1998;101:660-672.
2. Schmitz JP, Hollinger JO. The critical size defect as an experimental model for craniomandibulofacial nonunions. *Clin Orthop Relat Res.* 1986;205:299-308.
3. Gosain AK, Santoro TD, Song LS, et al. Osteogenesis in calvarial defects: contribution of the dura, the pericranium, and the surrounding bone in adult versus infant animals. *Plast Reconstr Surg.* 2003;112:515-527.
4. Ramamurthy NS, Zebrowski EJ, Golub LM. Insulin reversal of alloxan-diabetes induced changes in gingival collagen metabolism of the rat. *J Periodontal Res.* 1974;9:199-206.
5. Plewig G, Schopf E. Anti-inflammatory effects of antimicrobial agents: an in vivo study. *J Invest Dermatol* 1975;65:532-536.
6. Golub LM, Evans RT, Mcnamara TF, et al. A non-antimicrobial tetracycline inhibits gingival matrix metalloproteinases and bone loss in *Porphyromonas gingivalis*-induced periodontitis in rats. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1994;732:96-111.
7. Golub LM, Lee HM, Stoner JA, et al. Subantimicrobial-dose doxycycline modulates gingival crevicular fluid biomarkers of periodontitis in postmenopausal osteopenic women. *J Periodontol.* 2008;79:1409-1418.

8. Bettany JT, Peet NM, Wolowacz RG, et al. Tetracyclines induce apoptosis in osteoclasts. *Bone*. 2000;27:75-80.
9. Bezerra MM, Brito GA, Ribeiro RA, et al. Low-dose doxycycline prevents inflammatory bone resorption in rats. *Braz J Med Biol Res*. 2002;35:613-616.
10. Silva AC, Oliveira MR, Amaral LF, et al. Effect of doxycycline in gel form in regeneration bone: histomorphometric and tomographic study in rats calvary. *J Periodontol*. 2016;87:74-82.
11. Tatullo M, Marrelli M, Cassetta M, et al. Platelet Rich Fibrin (P.R.F.) in reconstructive surgery of atrophied maxillary bones: clinical and histological evaluations. *Int J Med Sci*. 2012;9:872-880.
12. Restoy-Lozano A, Dominguez-Mompell JL, Infante-Cossio P, et al. Reconstruction of mandibular vertical defects for dental implants with autogenous bone block grafts using a tunnel approach: clinical study of 50 cases. *Int J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 2015;44:1416-22.
13. Block MS, Kent JN. Sinus augmentation for dental implants: the use of autogenous bone. *J Oral Maxillofac Surg*. 1997;55:1281-1286.
14. Messori MR, Nagata MJ, Dornelles RC, et al. Bone healing in critical-size defects treated with platelet-rich plasma activated by two different methods. A histologic and histometric study in rat calvaria. *J Periodontal Res*. 2008;43:723-729.
15. Gomes PS, Fernandes MH. Rodent models in bone-related research: the relevance of calvarial defects in the assessment of bone regeneration strategies. *Lab Anim*. 2011;45:14-24.
16. Walsh WR, Vizesi F, Michael D, et al. Beta-TCP bone graft substitutes in a bilateral rabbit tibial defect model. *Biomaterials*. 2008;29:266-271.
17. Bosch C, Melsen B, Vargervik K. Importance of the critical-size bone defect in testing bone-regenerating materials. *J Craniofac Surg*. 1998;9:310-316.
18. Franco GC, Kajiya M, Nakanishi T, et al. Inhibition of matrix metalloproteinase-9 activity by doxycycline ameliorates RANK ligand-induced osteoclast differentiation in vitro and in vivo. *Exp Cell Res*. 2011;317:1454-1464.
19. Miyamoto T, Takahashi S, Ito H, et al. Tissue biocompatibility of cellulose and its derivatives. *J Biomed Mater Res*. 1989;23:125-133.

20. Ferraz CC, Gomes BP, Zaia AA, et al. In vitro assessment of the antimicrobial action and the mechanical ability of chlorhexidine gel as an endodontic irrigant. *J Endod.* 2001;27:452-455.
21. Dametto FR, Ferraz CC, Gomes BP, et al. In vitro assessment of the immediate and prolonged antimicrobial action of chlorhexidine gel as an endodontic irrigant against *Enterococcus faecalis*. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod.* 2005;99:768-772.
22. Ciancio S, Ashley R. Safety and efficacy of sub-antimicrobial-dose doxycycline therapy in patients with adult periodontitis. *Adv Dent Res.* 1998;12:27-31.
23. Buchter A, Meyer U, Kruse-Losler B, et al. Sustained release of doxycycline for the treatment of peri-implantitis: randomized controlled trial. *Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg.* 2004;42:439-444.
24. Gapski R, Hasturk H, Van Dyke TE, et al. Systemic MMP inhibition for periodontal wound repair: results of a multi-center randomized-controlled clinical trial. *J Clin Periodontol.* 2009;36:149-156.
25. Bettany JT, Wolowacz RG. Tetracycline derivatives induce apoptosis selectively in cultured monocytes and macrophages but not in mesenchymal cells. *Adv Dent Res.* 1998;12:136-143.

LEGENDS

Fig. 1 – Representative sections of the studied groups at 4 weeks of analysis. It is possible to notice a slight new bone formation limited to the margins of the defect for CO (A), DOX (C) and NAT (E) groups. In the magnification images (B, D, F and J), the interface between native bone (red asterisk) and new-formed bone (black asterisk) is evident. High degree of new formed bone can be observed in PAB (G) and PAB + DOX (I) groups. The particles of autogenous bone (H – black asterisk) can be seen in the center of the defect in these groups. In the high magnification images (B, D, F and J), it is evident the aspect less dense of new-formed bone (black asterisk) in comparison with native bone (red asterisk). (A, C, E, G and I – 4x mag; B, D, F, H and J – 40x mag).

Fig. 2 – Representative sections of the studied groups at 8 weeks of analysis. In the low magnification images, it is possible to observe more evident new bone formation in comparison with the period of 4 weeks. In CO (A), DOX (C) and NAT (E) groups, it is noticeable that the bone formation was not so intense as that presented by PAB (G) and PAB + DOX (I) groups. Moreover, the thickness of the calvaria was thinner for the groups in which autogenous bone was not applied (A, C and E). In the high magnification images (B, D, F and H) the interface between native bone (red asterisk) and new-formed bone (black asterisk) can be seen. (A, C, E, G and I – 4x mag; B, D, F, H and J – 40x mag).

Table 1 – Mean and standard deviation of the percentage of the corresponding area of new bone formed after 4 and 8 weeks for each studied group. The lower case in each column represents statistical differences among groups in each period ($p < 0.05$). The capital letters in each line indicate the statistical differences in a same group between 4 and 8 weeks ($p < 0.05$).